THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Appellate Case No. 2015-000806

APR 21 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Ard Trucking Company Respondent,

v.

Travelers Property Casualty Company
of America d/b/a The Travelers Indemnity
Company of Illinois Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms, LLC
M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esquire
Phillip S. Ferderigos, Esquire
P.O. Drawer H
Charleston, SC 29401
843-577-7700
Attorneys for Appellant

Driggers & Moyd
Martin S. Driggers, Sr., Esquire
P.O. Box 1439
Hartsville, SC 29551
843-332-5151
Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. ARD TRUCKING AGREED TO BE BOUND BY THE WCIP AND THE WCIP REQUIRES THAT THE LSRP IS APPLICABLE TO ITS ASSIGNED RISK POLICY AS A MATTER OF LAW.
- II. PER THE WCIP, THE PRODUCER IS THE AGENT OF THE ASSIGNED RISK INSURED AND THE PRODUCER ADMITTED HE HAD ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE THAT THE LSRP APPLIED TO ARD TRUCKING'S ASSIGNED RISK POLICY BEFORE ARD TRUCKING ISSUED AN IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT (ILOC) TO THE SERVICING CARRIER; THEREFORE, ARD TRUCKING, THROUGH ITS PRODUCER, HAD ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE THAT THE LSRP APPLIED TO ITS POLICY.
- III. THE JUDGE'S PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST AWARD IS IN ERROR PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE 34-31-20.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 20, 2005, Respondent Ard Trucking Company (hereinafter “Ard”) brought an action alleging Breach of Contract and Conversion against Appellant Travelers Property Casualty Company of America d/b/a The Travelers Indemnity Company of Illinois (hereinafter “Travelers”). Travelers answered and counterclaimed alleging that it was owed additional premium. After the parties had conducted discovery, the parties filed cross-Motions for Summary Judgment. Travelers filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on September 15, 2014, and Ard filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on November 20, 2014. The parties submitted respective Memoranda, Affidavits and accompanying exhibits and the matter was heard before Judge Burch on December 18, 2014. After both parties submitted competing Orders to Judge Burch, Judge Burch adopted Ard’s Order on February 13, 2015.

Travelers subsequently timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration on March 5, 2015 and Judge Burch subsequently denied Travelers’ motion on March 24, 2015. On April 20, 2015 Travelers timely served its Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ard Trucking submitted an Assigned Risk application for an Assigned Risk policy of workers’ compensation insurance pursuant to the WCIP through its producer, Michael P. Hair & Associates, Inc. on 11/6/03. (R. pp. 197-200). Pursuant to the application, Ard Trucking agreed to be bound by the WCIP. (R. p. 200). In its Application, Ard Trucking also acknowledged the LSRP was explained to Ard Trucking and that an explanatory notice or Brochure had been provided to Ard Trucking and that Ard Trucking would be bound by the LSRP if Ard Trucking’s estimated annual premium or preliminary physical audit premium met or exceeded

the premium eligibility requirements. (R. p. 200). On 11/20/03, SCDOI/NCCI assigned Travelers to be the servicing carrier based on Ard Trucking's application and Travelers issued a binder for an Assigned Risk workers' compensation policy to Ard Trucking for the policy period effective 11/7/2003. (R. pp. 272-273).¹

Pursuant to the WCIP, Travelers was assigned to be the servicing carrier based on Ard Trucking's Assigned Risk application and issued an Assigned Risk Workers' Compensation Policy number 6JUB-0188B92-3-03 to Ard Trucking for the policy period of 11/07/03 to 11/07/04. (R. pp. 201-222; 431-434; 594-615). The Assigned Risk policy issued to Ard Trucking contained the SCDOI/NCCI required Assigned Risk policy standard SCWCIP LSRP Endorsement ("Assigned Risk Loss Sensitive Rating Plan Notification Endorsement") adopted by SCDOI/NCCI. (R. p. 215; 608). Subsequently, pursuant to the WCIP rules, Travelers performed a preliminary audit survey of Ard Trucking's payroll in February, 2004, which in turn triggered the WCIP LSRP provisions.

Pursuant to the WCIP, on or about March 1, 2004, Travelers issued a rewritten Assigned Risk policy, which included the NCCI required "Mandatory Assigned Risk Loss Sensitive Rating Plan Endorsement" adopted by NCCI. (R. pp. 223-252; 236-238; 616-645; 629-631). On or about March 1, 2004, Travelers also sent Ard Trucking and its producer a letter advising that Ard Trucking Assigned Risk policy had been issued as part of the mandatory LSRP and also provided Ard Trucking and its producer with an SCDOI/NCCI required and copyrighted explanatory

¹ Admittedly, Allen Ard testified that he did not review his application before he signed it, did not read his entire policy, and did not review the WCIP or LSRP provisions he agreed to be bound by. In South Carolina, "[a] person who signs a contract or other written document cannot avoid the effect of the document by claiming that he did not read it." Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 663, 582 S.E.2d 432, 440 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Sims v. Tyler, 276 S.C. 640, 643, 281 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1981); Evans v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 269 S.C. 584, 587, 239 S.E.2d 76, 77 (1977)). Instead, when a person signs a document, he is responsible for exercising reasonable care to protect himself by reading the document and making sure of its contents. Id. At 663-664, 582 S.E.2d at 440. "The law does not impose a duty on the [defendant] to explain to an individual what he could learn from simply reading the document." Id. At 664, 582 S.E.2d at 440 (Citing Citizens & S. Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Landord, 313 S.C. 540, 545, 443 S.E.2d 549, 551 (1994)). (R. pp. 275-286).

Brochure/pamphlet entitled “The Loss Sensitive Rating Plan (LSRP): An Employer’s Guide To The Mandatory Assigned Risk Retrospective Rating Program.” (R. pp. 254-262). Pursuant to the WCIP and SCDOI plan documents, once Travelers forwarded the SCDOI/NCCI required Notice Endorsement, Mandatory Endorsement and Brochure, Ard Trucking had notice that the LSRP applied to its Assigned Risk policy as set forth by the SCDOI approved plan and WCIP – the SCDOI approved plan/WCIP requires no other notice to be sent to Ard Trucking or any other Assigned Risk insured. (R. pp. 157-196; 185; 548-586; 587).

Ard Trucking representatives initially testified that they did not know if they received the rewritten Assigned Risk policy, with the Mandatory Endorsement, or the Brochure on or about March of 2004.² However, in the Affidavit of Harry Brown,³ at the time Safety Director of Ard Trucking and now Ard Trucking’s vice-president, submitted to the Court prior to the summary judgment hearing, Ard Trucking admitted that Travelers sent the re-written Assigned Risk policy (which also contained the “Mandatory Assigned Risk Loss Sensitive Rating Plan Endorsement”), as well as the SCDOI/NCCI Brochure/pamphlet entitled “Loss Sensitive Rating Plan,” to Ard Trucking on or about March of 2004.

Afterwards, pursuant to the WCIP and Assigned Risk rules and LSRP, Travelers requested and Ard Trucking provided an acceptable, clean, unconditional, Irrevocable Letter of Credit (ILOC) for \$52,116. (R. p. 125-126). Ard Trucking’s producer testified that when Ard Trucking’s initial Assigned Risk policy was issued

² Ard Trucking and his representatives initially testified that they did not know if they received the rewritten Assigned Risk policy or the booklet in or about March of 2004. (R. pp. 290-314). Ard Trucking’s producer testified, however, that he did receive the re-written Assigned Risk policy and he was aware that Ard Trucking Company Assigned Risk Policy was subject to the LSRP requirements before Ard Trucking Company issued its ILOC to Travelers. (R. pp. 316-329).

³ Per the Affidavit of Harry Brown, Ard Trucking now admits it received the re-written Assigned Risk policy on or about March of 2004, where Par. 5 states: “Travelers ... issued a replacement policy dated March 1, 2004, which I also reviewed and filed;” and Par. 7 which states “Travelers mailed Ard Trucking Company a Brochure entitled “Loss Sensitive Rating Plan.” I cannot recall receiving and reviewing this document, however, I have no reason to doubt that Travelers sent it to Ard Trucking Company.” (R. p. 545-546).

to Ard Trucking, he did not know the details of the LSRP. However, after the producer received the mandatory Endorsement and Brochure, and after Travelers requested an ILOC, Ard Trucking's producer became familiar with the LSRP and its applicability to Ard Trucking's Assigned Risk policy and the producer further advised Ard Trucking that the LSRP was applicable to Ard Trucking's Assigned Risk policy, and he told Ard Trucking it was required to issue an ILOC to Travelers in accordance to LSRP requirements if Ard Trucking wished to continue having an Assigned Risk policy pursuant to the WCIP. It was only after Ard Trucking's producer became aware of the LSRP and its applicability to Ard Trucking's Assigned Risk policy (and, per the producer's testimony, he advised Ard Trucking of the same) that Ard Trucking issued an ILOC to Travelers. (R. pp. 316-329).

On or about December 24, 2004, at the end of the policy period, pursuant to the WCIP, Travelers audited Ard Trucking with an Annual Physical Audit and issued a final bill to Ard Trucking. In addition, pursuant to the WCIP's LSRP, Travelers subsequently calculated and issued an LSRP bill for Ard Trucking for \$175,064 based upon the actual losses incurred at several intervals after the termination of the Assigned Risk policy.⁴ (R. p. 153). Ard Trucking refused and has continued to refuse to pay Travelers' bill for additional premium of \$175,064 owed per the LSRP. Subsequently, per the LSRP provisions, Travelers drew upon the \$52,116 ILOC and Ard Trucking still owes Travelers \$122,948 for premium owed. (R. p. 153). Further, Ard Trucking did not contest Travelers' LSRP determination by filing a written

⁴ The WCIP and the Assigned Risk policy allow an applicant to obtain an Assigned Risk policy via an estimate based on the representations of Ard Trucking and its producer. Based on Ard Trucking's application, Ard Trucking was issued a South Carolina Assigned Risk policy. After the preliminary audit survey, per the WCIP and policy terms, Travelers determined Ard Trucking's premium triggered South Carolina's LSRP which is applicable to Assigned Risk policies. Based on the WCIP and applicable audit standards, Travelers is entitled to an additional premium of \$175,064 based on the LSRP. Travelers issued a bill to Ard Trucking for the additional \$175,064 in premium owed. Ard Trucking refused to pay the additional premium owed. Subsequently, per the LSRP, Travelers drew upon the \$52,116 ILOC and Ard Trucking still owes Travelers \$122,948 for premium owed.

appeal of Travelers' LSRP determination or any other issue to the SCDOI/NCCI as required pursuant to WCIP Rule 4.⁵ (R. p. 153).

Pursuant to South Carolina statutory law, case law, the SCDOI approved Plan/WCIP and the Assigned Risk policy terms (including the SCDOI/NCCI required Notice Endorsement, Mandatory Endorsement, and Brochure), a servicing carrier is required to charge premium pursuant to the LSRP. Therefore, Travelers, the servicing carrier, is entitled to the premium it seeks.

ARGUMENT

This appeal involves a challenge to the South Carolina Assigned Risk Workers' Compensation Insurance Plan (WCIP) as promulgated by the South Carolina Department of Insurance. Respectfully, the judge improperly applied the law, the WCIP, and the admitted facts of the case where the judge misconstrued the SCDOI required initial Notice Endorsement, the Mandatory Endorsement, and the LSRP Brochure (all required by the SCDOI) by relying solely upon the required initial Notice Endorsement,⁶ in isolation, while excluding notice provided by the required Mandatory Endorsement and Brochure, to come to a result which is contrary to the law and the WCIP.

Initially, there are two dispositive issues in favor of the servicing carrier which the judge regrettably ignored. First, as a matter of law, Ard Trucking agreed to be bound by the WCIP and, per the South Carolina Department of Insurance, the WCIP mandates the LSRP applied to Ard's Assigned Risk policy. This threshold issue is dispositive on its face, without reference to any additional notice to an assigned risk insured.

⁵ Indeed, Ard Trucking did not appeal any issue to the SCDOI/NCCI as is required by WCIP Rule 4. (R. pp. 348-350).

⁶ In addition, Ard Trucking representatives testified that they did not even review or rely upon the initial Endorsement. (R. pp. 310-313).

Second, the South Carolina Department of Insurance approved plan for giving additional notice to assigned risk insureds of the LSRP applicability to Assigned Risk policies “worked” in this case as (1) the Assigned Risk insured and his producer received the required initial Notice Endorsement, the Mandatory Endorsement, and the Brochure, (2) the insured’s producer knew the LSRP applied to his Assigned Risk insured’s policy, and (3) the insured’s producer notified the Assigned Risk insured that LSRP was applicable to his Assigned Risk policy before the Assigned Risk insured issued an Irrevocable Letter of Credit to the servicing carrier (as required by the WCIP). In other words, as a practical matter, this appeal does not involve a theoretical legal inquiry into the effectiveness of the Endorsements required by the South Carolina Department of Insurance because the insured’s producer admits that he received the Endorsements and the Brochure, understood such documents to explain to him (and the insured) that the LSRP applied to the insured’s Assigned Risk policy, and the producer told his Assigned Risk insured the LSRP applied to his Assigned Risk policy before the insured issued an ILOC to the servicing carrier.⁷ As such, as the Assigned Risk insured had actual and imputed knowledge that the LSRP applied to the Assigned Risk policy before the Assigned Risk insured issued an ILOC to the servicing carrier (as required by the Plan), the Assigned Risk insured cannot credibly claim that the servicing carrier should be estopped from charging it for the LSRP premium owed. Accordingly, based on the law and on the admitted facts, respectfully, the servicing carrier is entitled to a reversal of the judge’s Order.

Finally, Travelers respectfully submits that the judge erred in his application of the law and based his decision on theoretical supposition as opposed to any

⁷ Indeed, Ard Trucking did not have to continue with the Assigned Risk policy and could have chosen to refuse to submit an ILOC pursuant to the LSRP, which would have led to its cancellation of its Assigned Risk policy. The LSRP is the only mechanism a servicing carrier has to request an ILOC. By choosing to submit the ILOC to the servicing carrier, Ard Trucking certainly accepted the LSRP program at such time.

evidence in the Record when the judge negated the LSRP program in South Carolina by misconstruing the first Notice Endorsement in isolation and without reference to the Mandatory Endorsement and Brochure. Moreover, the judge erred by his ruling that a servicing carrier can somehow alter the Notice Endorsement which was required by the South Carolina Department of Insurance. Such ruling is unsupported by any evidence in the Record.

Accordingly, this appeal involves an attack on the authority of the South Carolina Department of Insurance to require specific Endorsements, which the South Carolina Department of Insurance deemed appropriate to provide notice to assigned risk insureds. In this case in particular, based on the facts in the Record, the notice requirements (Notice Endorsement, Mandatory Endorsement and Brochure) actually “worked” and provided the insured and his producer with actual knowledge that LSRP applied to the Assigned Risk policy issued to the Assigned Risk insured and the Assigned Risk insured should not be allowed to sidestep its obligations required under the WCIP in such circumstances.

I. ARD TRUCKING AGREED TO BE BOUND BY THE WCIP AND THE WCIP REQUIRES THAT THE LSRP IS APPLICABLE TO ITS ASSIGNED RISK POLICY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A. BACKGROUND

South Carolina law provides for a workers’ compensation market for workers’ compensation policies of last resort, generally referred to as Assigned Risk workers’ compensation policies. Assigned Risk policies are for high risk employers who are unable to obtain workers’ compensation coverage in the voluntary market. Assigned Risk policies are highly regulated by the SCDOI and issued pursuant to the WCIP and are administrated through the SCDOI/NCCI.⁸ The

⁸ For those entities that cannot obtain workers’ compensation coverage in the voluntary market, the State has an established “Assigned Risk” or “residual market.” Rates for such a program are established by the State, and rules

SCDOI/NCCI require servicing carriers to provide for standard forms, policies, and Endorsements via forms adopted by the SCDOI/NCCI in South Carolina. Servicing carriers, such as Travelers, are required to follow the WCIP provisions and utilize forms as required by the SCDOI/NCCI in South Carolina. Finally, and most importantly, the South Carolina Department of Insurance verified that, in South Carolina, the LSRP is applicable to Assigned Risk policies issued after November 1, 2003.⁹ (R. p. 547). Accordingly, the WCIP mandates that LSRP is applicable to Ard Trucking Company's Assigned Risk policy, which was issued on November 7, 2013, as a matter of law.

This matter involves a premium dispute wherein Ard Trucking alleges Travelers improperly charged Ard Trucking premium pursuant to the WCIP's Loss Sensitive Rating Plan (LSRP). In South Carolina, pursuant to the law, the SCDOI, the WCIP, and the Assigned Risk policy terms, Travelers is entitled to charge premium pursuant to the LSRP which is applicable to Assigned Risk policies.¹⁰ The LSRP is a plan that adjusts the premium for an Assigned Risk policy, following the policy term, based upon the actual occurrence of claims, i.e., the plan provides for a retroactive premium based on actual losses incurred at numerous intervals after the termination of the Assigned Risk policy. Pursuant to the WCIP, based on Ard

and procedures have been promulgated by the State as they relate to the Assigned Risk market – the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Assigned Risk Plan (WCIP), operating rules and procedures. The Plan administrator for the residual market is the National Council on Compensation Program, Inc. (NCCI).

⁹ The LSRP is a plan that adjusts the premium for an Assigned Risk policy following the policy term, based upon the actual occurrence of claims, i.e., the plan provides for a retroactive premium based on actual losses incurred at numerous intervals after the termination of the Assigned Risk policy. A retrospective rating plan for those employers who have an Assigned Risk workers' compensation insurance premium of \$200,000 or more. Initially, the LSRP was implemented as part of the WC Insurance Plan and was administered by the National Council on Compensation Insurance (NCCI) from March 1, 1994 until May 1, 2000 for policies effective September 1, 1994 and later. Between May 1, 2000 and May 1, 2003, NCCI again administered the WC Insurance Plan and the LSRP in South Carolina as of May 1, 2003 for policies effective on November 1, 2003 and after. The Loss Sensitive Rating Program details are further set forth in the NCCI approved Plan documents and NCCI Brochure entitled "*The Loss Sensitive Rating Plan (LSRP); An Employer's Guide to the Mandatory Assigned Risk Retrospective Rating Program.*" (R. pp. 547-587).

¹⁰ Per South Carolina law and the WCIP, the LSRP is applicable to Assigned Risk policies issued after November 1, 2003. Accordingly, LSRP is applicable to Ard Trucking Company's Assigned Risk policy as a matter of law.

Trucking's payroll, Ard Trucking's Assigned Risk policy triggered the LSRP under the WCIP. Accordingly, pursuant to South Carolina law and the WCIP, Travelers, as the servicing carrier, is entitled to the additional premium it seeks pursuant to the LSRP.

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