THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
PAUL M. BURCH, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

RECEIVED

APR 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000806

Ard Trucking Company ..... Respondent.

vs.

Travelers Property Casualty Company of America  
d/b/a The Travelers Indemnity Company of Illinois,.....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Driggers & Moyd  
Martin S. Driggers, Sr.  
Post Office Box 1439  
Hartsville, SC 29551  
Attorney for Respondent

Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms LLC  
Phillip S. Ferderigos, Esquire  
PO Drawer H  
Charleston, SC 29401  
843-577-7700  
Attorney for Appellant

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. APPELLANT'S POLICY TERMS, WHICH CLEARLY AND UNAMBIGUOUSLY STATED LSRP WAS NOT APPLICABLE TO RESPONDENT'S POLICY, CANNOT BE UNILATERALLY *CHANGED, AMENDED OR REWRITTEN***

As the Lower Court stated in its February 5, 2015 Order denying Appellant's request that the Lower Court to disregard the LSRP Notification Endorsement, "The die was cast by (Appellant) and this Court cannot rewrite (Appellant's) policy." (R. p. 007 lines 4 and 5.)

Appellant argued to the Lower Court, and continues to argue in this appeal, that Appellant is somehow immune from the consequences of its own policy language (through the LSRP Notification Endorsement incorporated into Appellant's policies) which specifically notified and informed Respondent that LSRP did not apply to Respondent. In spite of the LSRP exclusion Appellant itself issued to Respondent, Appellant

arrogantly continues to argue that the LSRP Endorsement was, “as a matter of law,” “amended,” “supplanted,” or “revised” by other documents not included in the two policies issued to Respondent.

Specifically, Appellant argues that (1) the LSRP Mandatory Endorsement included in the March 1, 2004 replacement policy issued to Respondent and (2) a Brochure delivered to Respondent which explained LSRP, somehow individually or combined to rewrite the unambiguous language contained in the LSRP Notification Endorsement incorporated into both policies issued to Respondent. The Lower Court properly rejected Appellant’s arguments.

**A. TERMS OF APPELLANT’S POLICY MAY NOT BE CHANGED OR WAIVED EXCEPT BY ENDORSEMENT ISSUED BY APPELLANT AS PART OF THIS POLICY**

The two insurance policies issued by Appellant to Respondent contain a five-page form entitled WC 00 00 00 (A), which forms the core of Appellant’s assigned risk workers compensation insurance policies. Among other matters, this form explains responsibilities of the insured employer, exclusions from coverage and the way the premium is determined.

Importantly, Form WC 00 00 00 (A) of Appellant's insurance contract issued to Respondent contains "boilerplate" contractual principles (R. p. 00603-00606) and effectively included the time tested contractual admonition: "The only contractual terms or agreements between the contracting parties are those terms set forth, included, and contained within the four corners of this contract."

The first policy provision of the WC 00 00 00 (A) form plainly states the contractual principles controlling "changes" under Appellant's policy:

## **WORKERS COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYERS LIABILITY INSURANCE POLICY**

In return for the payment of the premium and subject to all terms of this policy, we agree with you as follows:

### **GENERAL SECTION**

#### **A. The Policy**

This policy includes at its effective date the Information Page and all endorsements and schedules listed there. It is a contract of insurance between you (the employer named in Item 1 of the Information Page) and us (the insurer named on the Information Page). The only agreements relating to this insurance are stated in this policy. The terms of this policy may not be changed or

waived except by endorsement issued by us to be part of this policy.

(Emphasis supplied.)(R. p. 00603.)

Accordingly, Appellant's own policy terms state as follows:

1. Appellant's insurance policy is a contract between Appellant and Respondent.
2. The only agreements relating to the insurance contract are stated in the policy.
3. The terms of Appellant's insurance contract may not be "changed" or waived except by endorsement issued by Appellant and made a part of this policy.

Therefore, Appellant's policy language prohibits any "change" to the terms of the policy "except by endorsement issued by (Appellant) to be part of this policy."

The lynchpin proposition relied upon in Appellant's appeal maintains that Appellant's own clear and unequivocal terms contained in the LSRP Notification Endorsement - which excluded LSRP application from Respondent's South Carolina insurance policy - were somehow ("by operation of law") "changed" or, in Appellant's words,

“amended/supplanted” (Appellant’s Final Brief at Page 23, Line 6) and/or “revised and amended” (Appellant’s Final Brief at Page 23, Line 12).

Appellant’s novel lynchpin proposition is not only (1) contrary to common sense and (2) violates hardened South Carolina rules regarding insurance contracts which hold contracting parities to their contractual terms, Appellant’s proposition is (3) specifically prohibited by Appellant’s own insurance contract provisions.

**B. NO REMEDY “AS A MATTER OF LAW”  
WAS AVAILABLE TO CHANGE  
APPELLANT’S *ADMITTED* EXCLUSION OF  
LSRP FROM APPLYING TO  
RESPONDENT’S POLICY**

As demonstrated on page 23 of Appellant’s Brief, Appellant is forced to admit, because it cannot deny, that Appellant’s own clear and unambiguous terms used in the LSRP Notification Endorsement, and which were incorporated into both of policies issued to Respondent, specifically state that LSRP is not applicable to Respondent’s South Carolina policies.

However, through extraordinary convoluted reasoning, Appellant maintains it is somehow immune from its own clear and unambiguous terms and that the Courts should allow it to rewrite the terms in LSRP Notification Endorsement to completely reverse their meaning:

Although the Notice Endorsement does not list South Carolina, the Mandatory Endorsement does apply to South Carolina and, most importantly, the SCDOI/NCCI/SCDOI has determined that the Mandatory Endorsement (along with the Brochure) amend/supplant to provide sufficient notice to (Respondent) that the LSRP applies to its South Carolina Assigned Risk policy. The WDIP requires (Appellant) to issue SCDOI/NCCI required Notice Endorsement it issued to (Respondent). After the initial audit survey, once the payroll triggers the LSRP (as in this present case), the WCIP requires (Appellant) to issue a SCDOI/NCCI required Mandatory Endorsement and Brochure. Pursuant to the WCIP, the Mandatory Endorsement (and Brochure) revises and amends the Notice Endorsement and the WCIP mandates that the Mandatory Endorsement (and Brochure) provides sufficient notice that the LSRP applies to (Respondent's) Assigned Risk policy.

(Emphasis supplied.) (Appellant's Brief at Page 23, Lines 3 - 14.)

This ham-handed effort to rewrite (“amend,” supplant,” and/or “revise”) Appellant’s own clear and unambiguous language used to promulgate contract terms, is just a desperate attempt by Appellant to avoid the consequences of its own terms contained in its own insurance contract.

Appellant’s novel proposition would require this Court to rewrite the insurance contract’s terms so that they the contract would then have the

exact opposite meaning from the existing plain, clear and unambiguous meaning. However, courts cannot rewrite insurance policies to suit the pleasure of one of the contracting parties. *See, USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 655, 661 S.E.2d 791, 797 (2008) (Courts must enforce, not write, contracts of insurance, and their language must be given its plain, ordinary and popular meaning.)

**1. APPELLANT’S “LSRP MANDATORY ENDORSEMENT” DID NOT AMEND, CHANGE OR REWRITE THE “LSRP NOTIFICATION ENDORSEMENT”**

Appellant’s argues that the LSRP Mandatory Endorsement Appellant (included in the policy issued to Respondent March 1, 2004) somehow displaced and overrode (in Appellant’s terminology “amended,” “supplanted” and/or “revised” or “amended/supplanted”) the LSRP Notification Endorsement “as a matter of law.” Ironically, the March 1, 2004 replacement policy (R. p. 00616-00646) wherein the LSRP Mandatory Endorsement first appeared, also contains the identical LSRP Notification Endorsement incorporated into the initial (12/1/03) policy issued Appellant to Respondent. Again, the same language appeared in the LSRP Notification Endorsement attached to both policies, which clearly and

unequivocally declares that LSRP does not apply to Respondent's policy. (Agin, the WC 00 04 17 (00) endorsement dated 12-01-03 is at R. p. 00608 and the same identical dated 03-01-04 is at R. p. 00628.)

The Lower Court carefully reviewed all of the contractual provisions contained in both insurance policies issued to Respondent, including the LSRP Mandatory Endorsement in the replacement policy which Appellant maintains "revised and amended" or "amended/supplanted" the replacement policy to include the application of LSRP "as a matter of law." Following the Lower Court's analysis, the Lower Court determined that the LSRP Mandatory Endorsement did not negate the clear and unequivocal language contained in the LSRP Notification Endorsement:

#### **PERTINENT POLICY LANGUAGE EXAMINED**

Insurance policies typically contain declarations and provisions, and include endorsements applicable to specific situations and venues. The (Appellant's) policy initially had 11 endorsements and its replacement policy had 13 endorsements. Several endorsements included under the initial (12/1/03) policy and replacement (3/1/03) policy bear scrutiny in deciding whether the LSRP applied to the South Carolina policy issued to (Respondent).

## 1. Assigned Risk Endorsement

Both the initial and replacement policies issued to (Respondent) contain an identical one-page Assigned Risk Adjustment Program endorsement (WC 00 06 15 (00)), informing Plaintiff that Defendant may add a “surcharge” to the premium for South Carolina policies. Without question, this endorsement applies to (Respondent’s) South Carolina policy because the endorsement specifically lists South Carolina among the ten (10) states wherein this surcharge may be applied. The first paragraph of the “assigned risk” endorsement may be applied.

The first paragraph of the Assigned Risk Endorsement states,

. . . The (assigned risk) program adds a surcharge to the premium of insureds who are eligible for an experience rating modification, are assigned risks, and meet the other requirements of the program.  
(Balance omitted.)

It is noted that the Assigned Risk Endorsement does not incorporate, explain, or even mention LSRP in any way. Accordingly, and not to be confused with the extraordinary premiums charged whenever LSRP is applicable, the Assigned Risk Endorsement clearly and unequivocally notifies and informs Plaintiff that (1) a surcharge may be applied to Plaintiff’s premium under the Assigned Risk Adjustment Program and, importantly, (2) the assigned risk surcharge addressed in the Assigned Risk Endorsement is applicable to South Carolina insureds, which included (Respondent).

2. A/R Loss Sensitive Rating Plan Notification Endorsement

(Appellant's) in initial and replacement policies both contained an extremely important endorsement entitled the Assigned Risk Loss Sensitive Rating Plan Notification Endorsement (WC 00 06 17 (00)), hereafter LSRP Notification Endorsement. An LSRP Notification Endorsement containing the identical language was attached to the initial and replacement policies South Carolina policies issued to (Respondent). These identical LSRP Notification Endorsements clearly and unequivocally declared that LSRP was applicable to policies issued in South Carolina. Specifically, both endorsements stated as follows:

This endorsement applies in the states listed in the schedule below:

<b>SCHEDULE</b>	
<b>STATE</b>	<b>PREMIUM ELIGIBILITY</b>
Alabama	\$200,000
Alaska	\$200,000
Connecticut	\$200,000
District of Columbia	\$200,000
Georgia	\$200,000
Idaho	\$200,000
Illinois	\$200,000
Indiana	\$100,000
Kansas	\$200,000
Nevada	\$200,000
New Hampshire	\$175,000
North Carolina	\$200,000
South Dakota	\$200,000

Stated differently, the LSRP Notification Endorsement incorporated by (Appellant) into the

two South Carolina policies issued to (Respondent) expressly negated the application of LSRP to the policies. (Appellant's) own clear and unambiguous language excluded both of the policies issued in South Carolina from any LSRP application. Therefore, LSRP provisions did not apply to the South Carolina policy issued by (Appellant) to (Respondent).

(Appellant) could easily have clearly and unequivocally applied LSRP provisions to the two South Carolina policies issued to (Respondent), just as (Appellant) clearly and unequivocally applied the Assigned Risk Endorsement to (Respondent's) South Carolina policy. However, (Appellant) failed to include, and therefore clearly excluded, LSRP application from (Respondent's) South Carolina policy.

Instead of notifying and informing (Respondent) that LSRP and extraordinary LSRP premiums applied to (Appellant's) the South Carolina policy, (Appellant) own plain, ordinary, and unequivocal language declared that LSRP provisions did not apply in South Carolina and, therefore, did not apply to (Respondent's) South Carolina policy. The die was cast by (Appellant) and this Court cannot rewrite (Appellant's) policy.

### 3. Mandatory Assigned Risk Loss Sensitive Rating Plan Endorsement

Other than the (Appellant's) LSRP Notification Endorsement which excluded LSRP application under the South Carolina initial and replacement policies issued to (Respondent), the only other endorsement related to LSRP contained in the

policy was the Mandatory Assigned Risk Loss Sensitive Rating Plan Endorsement (MARLSRP Endorsement) (WC 00 06 18 (00)). It is noted that this endorsement was not included in the initial (12/1/03) policy, but only included in the replacement (3/1/05) policy. The purpose of the MARLSRP Endorsement is to explain how LSRP extraordinary premiums, if and when applicable, were to be computed.

While the MARLSRP Endorsement states, “This endorsement applies where the LSRP has been approved,” nowhere in the endorsement does it specifically state LSRP was ever approved in the state of South Carolina. As already noted, the LSRP Notification Endorsement discussed above and which was included in both the initial and replacement policies (Appellant) delivered to (Respondent), clearly and unequivocally declares that LSRP does not apply in South Carolina.

#### 4. Other Policy References to LSRP

Except for (1) the LSRP Notification Endorsement (contained in both policies) which clearly and unequivocally exclude (Respondent’s) South Carolina policy from LSRP application, and (2) the MARLSRP Endorsement (only contained in the March 1, 2004 policy) which simply explained how LSRP premiums, if applicable, are to be determined, there were no other endorsements or provisions under (Appellant’s) initial or replacement policy which address the application of LSRP. All told, there are only two other references to LSRP anywhere else in the replacement policy, both of which appear on the two page “Extension of Info Page Schedule.”

However, such scant and unexplained use of LSRP terminology (“Loss Sensitive Rating Plans” is used on one page and “LSRP” is used on another page) falls far short of overcoming (Appellant’s) own clear and unambiguous exclusion of LSRP from having any application to the South Carolina replacement policy

issued to (Respondent), which exclusion is contained in (Appellant’s) own LSRP Notification Endorsement.

(The foregoing excerpt from the Lower Court’s order is located found at R. pp. 004-008.)

Following the Lower Court’s thorough review and analysis of Appellant’s insurance policy provisions, the Lower Court rejected Appellant’s proposition that Appellant’s LSRP Mandatory Endorsement had altered (“revised and amended” or “amended/supplanted”) the clear and unequivocal language Appellant used in the LSRP Notification Endorsement.

**2. APPELLANT’S LSRP “BROCHURE”  
DID NOT *AMEND, CHANGE OR  
REWRITE* THE “LSRP  
NOTIFICATION ENDORSEMENT”**

Appellant’s proposition that the delivery to Respondent of a Brochure (R. pp 00335-00343) explaining LSRP also somehow rewrote (“revised and amended” or “amended/supplanted”) the LSRP Notification Endorsement is

without merit. As stated in affidavits of Respondent's President Allen Ard (R. pp. 00503-00508) and Respondent's Safety Director Harry Brown (R. pp. 00545-00546), Respondent did not believe LSRP applied to the policies issued by Appellant to Respondent. Moreover, the language in the Brochure did not inform Respondent that LSRP applied to the insurance policies issued to Respondent by Appellant. Again, the policies themselves stated that LSRP did not apply to Respondent's policies. (The WC 00 04 17 (00) endorsement dated 12-01-03 is at R. p. 00608 and the identical endorsement contained in the replacement policy dated 03-01-04 is at R. p. 00628.)

Respondent's Safety Director Brown's affidavit states, in part, as follows:

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